
 

Agenda Packet 
 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
AGENCY 

 
Monday, December 4, 2023 

5:15 p.m. 
 

Created 11/30/2023 2:46 PM 

https://norfolkne.gov/
Page 1 of 34

https://norfolkne.gov/


Notice of Meeting 
Community Development Agency 

 

 The Community Development Agency will meet on Monday, December 4, 

2023 at 5:15 p.m. at the City Council Chambers, 309 N. 5th St., Norfolk, Nebraska. 

 The Agency reserves the right to adjourn into closed session as per Section 

84-1410 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes.  

 An agenda for such meeting, kept continuously current, is available at the 

office of the City Administrator, City of Norfolk, 309 N 5th St, Norfolk, Nebraska, 

during normal business hours. 
 
Brianna Duerst 
Norfolk City Clerk & 
CDA Secretary 
 
Publish (November 29, 2023) 
1 P.O.P. 
 

Page 2 of 34



COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
AGENDA 

December 04, 2023 

Call to Order 
1. Call meeting to order  

2. Inform the public about the location of the Open Meeting Act posted in the 
City Council Chambers and accessible to members of the public. 

 

3. Roll Call  

Action Items/Discussion Items 
4. Approve Agenda Motion 

5. Approve the minutes of the November 6, 2023 Agency meeting. Motion 

6. Consideration of Resolution No. 2023-19 recommending approval of the 
Redevelopment Plan for the Sunset Plaza Redevelopment Project and 
authorization to forward to the City Council. 

Resolution 2023-19 

 

Page 3 of 34



STAFF MEMORANDUM 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

December 04, 2023 

Call to Order 
1. Call meeting to order  
2. Inform the public about the location of the Open Meeting Act posted in the 

City Council Chambers and accessible to members of the public. 
 

3. Roll Call  
   

Action Items/Discussion Items 
4. Approve Agenda 

 
Motion 

5. Approve the minutes of the November 6, 2023 Agency meeting. Motion 
   

See Enclosure 5. 
 

6. Consideration of Resolution No. 2023-19 recommending approval of the 
Redevelopment Plan for the Sunset Plaza Redevelopment Project and 
authorization to forward to the City Council. 

Resolution 2023-19 

   
On June 2, 2023, North Kings Highway, LLC, submitted a TIF application for 
property located at 1700 Market Lane, Norfolk, NE. On Monday, June 5, the 
Economic Development Subcommittee reviewed the application and voted to 
move forward with acceptance with a Redevelopment Plan for this project.   
  
At the November 6, 2023 Community Development Agency meeting, the 
Agency accepted the Redevelopment Plan for this project and forwarded to the 
Planning Commission for review and recommendation. The Planning 
Commission held a hearing on this Plan at their November 21, 2023, meeting 
and recommended approval of the Plan on a 6-0 vote.  
 
 
Enclosed in the agenda packet is the Redevelopment Plan for the Sunset Plaza 
Redevelopment Project. The Project Site is approximately 20.68 acres of 
developed property. The Redevelopment Project will consist of the renovation 
and rehabilitation of the existing Sunset Plaza Mall and it is anticipated that the 
associated renovations will occur in two phases.  
  
First, Redeveloper intends to undertake the renovations required by Kohl’s, 
Planet Fitness and TJ Maxx in order to secure their occupancy (referred to 
herein as “Phase One”). The construction undertaken as part of Phase One will 
focus on retrofitting the prior Herberger’s space into three separate spaces 
(anticipated to be Kohl’s, Planet Fitness and TJ Maxx). Such renovations will 

Page 4 of 34



Staff Memorandum - 2 - 
Community Development Agency Meeting 
December 04, 2023 

include, without limitation, replacement and/or repair of the associated 
sidewalks and parking lots, landscaping, storm sewer and curb improvements, 
extension of sanitary sewer, water and electric, construction of a new loading 
dock, exterior façade enhancements, and interior tenant improvements.     
  
The Phase Two renovations will include, without limitation, replacement and/or 
repair of the associated sidewalks and parking lots, landscaping, exterior façade 
enhancements, renovation of hallways and food court, and interior tenant 
improvements for the remainder of the mall. While Redeveloper may be able to 
undertake the initial renovations without TIF, it could not complete the broader 
rehabilitation of Sunset Plaza Mall.  As such, the Redevelopment Project could 
not be completed without the assistance of TIF – irrespective of the timing of 
Redeveloper’s commencement on the initial renovations.  
  
The cost of public improvements, site acquisition, and other TIF-eligible costs 
are expected to be approximately $15,463,466.  Total project costs, including 
private improvements, are expected to be more than $22,500,00.   
  
The Redeveloper is requesting TIF in the amount of $3,500,000.  The developer 
has indicated the Project is not economically feasible without TIF. Without TIF, 
the Redevelopment Project’s average ROI over a five-year period is estimated 
to be 4.76%.  With TIF, the Redevelopment Project’s ROI over the same period 
is estimated to be 9.83%, which would be an acceptable ROI to prudent 
investors and lenders, thus making the Redevelopment Project financially 
feasible. 
 
See Enclosure 6. 
 
 

Page 5 of 34



CDA NOV06.2023   Page 1 of 4 

 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

 

The Community Development Agency of the City of Norfolk, Nebraska, met in the Council 

Chambers, 309 N 5th Street, Norfolk, Nebraska, on Monday, November 6, 2023, beginning at  

5:15 p.m. 

 

Chairman Moenning called the meeting to order. 

 

Roll call found the following Agency members present: Frank Arens, Shane Clausen, Corey 

Granquist, Kory Hildebrand, Andrew McCarthy, Justin Snorton, Justin Webb and Josh 

Moenning.  Absent:  Thad Murren. 

 

City staff members present were City Administrator Andy Colvin, City, Finance Officer Randy 

Gates, City Clerk Brianna Duerst, Public Works Director Steve Rames, Operations Manager 

Lyle Lutt, Assistant City Engineer Anna Allen, Communications Manager Nick Stevenson, 

Economic Development Director Candice Alder and City Planner Val Grimes. 

Notice of the meeting was given in advance by publication in the Norfolk Daily News, and the 

notice of the meeting was given to the Chairman and all members of the Agency prior to the 

meeting. 

The Chairman presided and the Secretary recorded the proceedings. 

 

The Chairman informed the public about the location of the current copy of the Open Meetings 

Act posted in the meeting room and accessible to members of the public. 

Agenda 

 

Granquist moved, seconded by Hildebrand, to approve the agenda as printed. Roll call: Ayes: 

Arens, Clausen, Granquist, Hildebrand, McCarthy, Snorton, Webb and Moenning. Nays: None. 

Absent: Murren.  Motion carried. 

 

Minutes 

(October 16, 2023 CDA Minutes) 

 

Arens moved, seconded by Snorton to approve the minutes of the October 16, 2023, Agency 

meeting as printed. Roll call: Ayes: Arens, Clausen, Granquist, Hildebrand, McCarthy, Snorton, 

Webb and Moenning. Nays: None. Absent: Murren. Motion carried. 

 

(Sunset Plaza Redevelopment Plan) 

 

This item was tabled at the October 16, 2023 Community Development Agency.  

 

McCarthy moved, seconded by Arens to remove acceptance of the Redevelopment Plan for the 

Sunset Plaza Redevelopment Project and authorization to forward to the Planning Commission 

for recommendation from the table.  

12/4/2023 Enclosure 5
Page 6 of 34



CDA NOV06.2023   Page 2 of 4 

 

Granquist moved, seconded by Webb to approve acceptance of the Redevelopment Plan for 

Sunset Plaza Redevelopment Project and authorization to forward to the Planning Commission 

for recommendation. 

 

Agency Treasurer Randy Gates provided information to agency members. The Project Site is 

approximately 20.68 acres of developed property. The Redevelopment Project will consist of the 

renovation and rehabilitation of the existing Sunset Plaza Mall, and it is anticipated that the 

associated renovations will occur in two phases. First, Redeveloper intends to undertake the 

renovations required by Kohl’s, Planet Fitness and TJ Maxx in order to secure their occupancy 

(referred to herein as “Phase One”). The construction undertaken as part of Phase One will focus 

on retrofitting the prior Herberger’s space into three separate spaces (anticipated to be Kohl’s, 

Planet Fitness and TJ Maxx). The redevelopment plan anticipates the TIF will be used for Phase 

Two renovations. The Phase Two renovations will include, without limitation, replacement 

and/or repair of the associated sidewalks and parking lots, landscaping, exterior façade 

enhancements, renovation of hallways and food court, and interior tenant improvements for the 

remainder of the mall. While Redeveloper may be able to undertake the initial renovations 

without TIF, it could not complete the broader rehabilitation of Sunset Plaza Mall.  

 

The cost of public improvements, site acquisition, and other TIF-eligible costs are expected to be 

approximately $15,463,466.  Total project costs, including private improvements, are expected to 

be more than $22,500,000. The Redeveloper is requesting TIF in the amount of $3,500,000.  The 

redeveloper has indicated the Project is not economically feasible without TIF. 

 

Andrew Willis, representing the redeveloper. Willis explained the redevelopment plan is broken 

down into two phases. Phase One is underway due to tight time constraints. With Phase One 

already occurring, without TIF, Phase Two doesn’t happen. Total project costs between Phase 

One and Phase Two are approximately $22 million. The total TIF request is $3.5 million. Willis 

discussed other shopping malls in Nebraska that have utilized TIF for redevelopment in recent 

years.  

 

Arens asked about the timeline of the phased projects. Willis explained that redevelopment of the 

prior Herberger’s space needs to be done by January. Phase Two of the project would begin in 

2024 and would be about a 24-month project. 

 

Andres Sevilla, redeveloper, said they have a delivery date for TJ Maxx and Kohl’s of mid-

January, and both stores are expected to be open in April. Sevilla reviewed the second phase of 

the redevelopment project and shared the renewal vision, masterplan goals, masterplan scope, 

and exterior and interior spaces masterplans.  

 

Clausen asked about the current assessed valuation of the mall. Willis said the current assessed 

valuation is just over $9 million. Willis said they are trying to get the assessed valuation to last 

year’s base value of $4.5 million. Anticipated value of the mall after all improvements is $24 

million. If the valuation stays at $9 million, it shrinks the increment, so instead of $3.5 million in 

TIF, about $2.7 million would be generated.  

 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 5
Page 7 of 34



CDA NOV06.2023   Page 3 of 4 

 

Webb asked Sevilla why he had chosen to do this project in Norfolk. Sevilla said the mall is part 

of the identity of Norfolk and described the potential the project has. Webb discussed the 

decreasing tax valuation of the mall property over the last several years and said it’s clear the 

direction the property was going, and now we have someone that wants to bring it back up.  

 

Clausen asked about projected sales revenues from TJ Maxx and Kohl’s. Sevilla said that the 

national average in annual sales is about $450/square foot. In Norfolk, Kohl’s will be 47,000 

square feet and TJ Maxx will be 22,000 square feet.  

 

Willis reiterated that while Phase One is key to making the project work, TIF will not be used for 

the Phase One projects that have already been done, just Phase Two.  

 

Jim McKenzie, 1412 Longhorn Drive, said he is against the use of TIF unless it is used for its 

initially indented purposes of rejuvenating truly blighted areas and solving a community need 

such as affordable housing or something similar. McKenzie said the biggest issue he has with 

this is the inconsistencies and variables within the application. There are challenges in 

determining the base value, which determines the amount of TIF. The current assessed base 

value is $9.3 million, and they are trying to reduce it to $4.5 million. McKenzie said he does not 

believe Nebraska State Statute contemplates authorizing TIF in the middle of a project that is 

underway.  The big question is, what is the base value? If the Phase Two improvements are the 

only improvements that are eligible for TIF, since Phase One improvements should be mostly 

complete before TIF is even approved, McKenzie said it makes sense for the developer to come 

back to the city after Phase One is complete and ask for TIF for just the Phase Two portion of the 

project to determine a proper base value.  

 

Rod Wilke, 2401 Hardison Drive, said he is opposed to TIF and said it puts a burden on citizens. 

Wilke said he feels citizens are not being listened to and cannot afford more taxes.  

 

Soshia Bohn, 1628 Mulberry Drive, expressed support for the project and said it’s important to 

keep the money and families in town.  

 

Clausen said he understands the concern but said it is important to look at each TIF project 

individually and determine whether the project is a net positive or net negative for the city and 

said he feels this project is a net positive, as it will increase the revenues coming into the 

community.  

 

Jan Haberman, 204 E Phillip Avenue, said TIF is not warranted here due to so many TIF projects 

the city has already approved.  

 

Troy Weyrich, representing Renegade, said there is a return on investment and the sales tax 

revenues that will be generated are significant. To improve the mall, Weyrich said, for his 

business alone, he anticipates a 10-15% increase in sales. Weyrich also said this type of project is 

exactly what TIF should be used for. 

 

Roll call: Ayes: Arens, Clausen, Granquist, Hildebrand, McCarthy, Snorton, Webb, and 

Moenning. Nays: None. Absent:  Murren.  Motion carried.  

12/4/2023 Enclosure 5
Page 8 of 34



CDA NOV06.2023   Page 4 of 4 

 

 

There being no further business the Chairman adjourned the meeting at 6:14 p.m. 

 

 ________________________________ 

ATTEST: Josh Moenning, Chairman 

 

________________________________  

Brianna Duerst, Secretary 

 

 

( S E A L ) 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 5
Page 9 of 34



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-19 

  

   BE IT RESOLVED, by the governing body of the Community Development Agency of the City of 

Norfolk, Nebraska, (the “Agency”) as follows:   

 

1. The governing body of the Agency hereby finds and determines that there has been previously prepared 

and presented to the Agency a redevelopment plan entitled “Redevelopment Plan for the Sunset Plaza 

Redevelopment Project” (the “Plan”); that the Plan has been recommended and approved by the Planning 

Commission of the City of Norfolk; that all conditions precedent to the recommending of the Plan to the 

Mayor and Council of the City of Norfolk for hearing and final approval have occurred.  

 

2. The governing body of the Agency hereby further finds and determines that the proposed land uses and 

building requirements in the redevelopment project area as described in the Plan are designed with the 

general purpose of accomplishing, in conformance with the City’s general plan, a coordinated, adjusted 

and harmonious development of the City and its environs which will, in accordance with the present and 

future needs, promote health, safety, morals, order, convenience, prosperity and the general welfare, as 

well as efficiency and economy in the process of development; that under the Plan adequate provision is 

made for traffic, vehicular parking, the promotion of safety from fire, panic and other dangers, adequate 

provision for light and air, the promotion of the healthful and convenient distribution of populations, the 

provision of adequate transportation, water, sewage and other public utilities, schools, parks, recreational 

and community facilities and other public requirements, the promotion of sound design and arrangement, 

the wise and efficient expenditure of public funds and the prevention of the recurrence of insanitary or 

unsafe dwelling accommodations or conditions of blight.  

 

3. The governing body of the Agency hereby determines that the Plan contains a statement of the proposed 

method and estimated cost of acquisition and preparation for redevelopment of the redevelopment 

project area; that no public improvements are required to be provided except as set forth in the Plan; that 

there are no estimated proceeds or revenue expected to be obtained by the Agency from disposal of 

property to redevelopers; that the Plan sets forth the proposed method of financing for the proposed 

redevelopment project consisting of direct payment for public improvements or grant assistance to the 

redeveloper for the redevelopment project area, as designated in the Plan which method of financing is 

the issuance by the Agency of its tax increment revenue bonds to provide moneys to pay for the costs of 

certain public improvements directly or of public or private improvements by grant assistance and that 

there are no families currently living within the redevelopment project area, as set forth in the Plan, 

which are currently expected to be displaced from such area.  The project area set forth in the Plan is 

located within the corporate limits of the City of Norfolk.  

 

4. The Cost Benefit Analysis prepared for the Agency is hereby approved.  

 

5. The governing body of the Agency hereby recommends to the Mayor and Council of the City of Norfolk 

that the Plan be approved and, subject to such approval, hereby adopts the Plan.  

   

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 10 of 34



 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 4th day of December, 2023.  

  

____________________  

                 Chairman (Mayor)   

______________________  

Secretary 

 (SEAL)  

 

 

 

Approved as to form:  __________________________ 

Danielle Myers-Noelle, City Attorney  

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 11 of 34



 
             progress.  right at home. 
 
  

 

 

309 N 5th St 
Norfolk, NE  68701 

P402-844-2280 F402-844-2028 
www.norfolkne.gov 

 

 

 

November 21, 2023 

 

 

Dear Members of the Community Development Agency: 

 

 

The Norfolk Planning Commission held a public hearing to hear comments on and 

review the Redevelopment Plan for the Sunset Plaza Redevelopment Project on 

November 21, 2023, as it pertains to the City of Norfolk zoning code and Comprehensive 

Plan. 

 

The Redevelopment Project consists of the renovation and rehabilitation of the existing 

Sunset Plaza Mall.  The Project is currently zoned as C-3 (Service Commercial District) 

and will not require a zoning change as part of the Redevelopment Project.  The 

Comprehensive plan sets forth a “Commercial” designation for future use of the Project 

Site and specifies that large commercial and retail developments are appropriate.     

 

The Planning Commission recommends approval of the Redevelopment Plan for the 

Sunset Plaza Redevelopment Project with a 6-0 vote.  

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

Dan Spray, Chair  

Norfolk Planning Commission 
 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 12 of 34



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

REDEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR 
THE SUNSET PLAZA REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
PREPARED OCTOBER, 2023 

 
BY THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

OF THE CITY OF NORFOLK, NEBRASKA

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 13 of 34



1 

 A.  Introduction 
 

This Redevelopment Plan for the Sunset Plaza Redevelopment Project (this 
“Redevelopment Plan”), prepared by the Community Development Agency of the City of 
Norfolk, Nebraska (the “Agency”), is a guide for redevelopment activities to remove or eliminate 
blighted and substandard conditions within the City of Norfolk, Nebraska (“City”).  The Mayor 
and City Council of the City (the "Council"), recognizing that blighted and substandard 
conditions are a threat to the continued stability and vitality of the City, designated certain areas 
of the City to be blighted and substandard and in need of redevelopment pursuant to the 
requirements of the Nebraska Community Development Law, sections 18-2101 et. seq., as 
amended (the "Act").    

 
Prior to the preparation of this Redevelopment Plan, and in compliance with the Act, the 

Mayor and Council designated a portion of the City as a blighted and substandard community 
redevelopment area, such area being commonly referred to as the “Big Red Keno Area” (referred 
to herein as the “Redevelopment Area”).  This Redevelopment Plan sets forth a proposed 
redevelopment project, undertaken by North Kings Highway LLC and/or its successors 
(“Redeveloper”), located within the Redevelopment Area to optimize the tax increment financing 
("TIF") resources available to offset certain costs deemed eligible for reimbursement by TIF 
under the Act, and to remove existing and avoid future blighted and substandard conditions, all 
as further described herein.  This Redevelopment Plan contemplates the rehabilitation and 
renovation of the existing “Sunset Plaza Mall”, together with such public improvements 
associated therewith, within the Redevelopment Area (such public and private improvements are 
collectively referred to herein as the "Redevelopment Project").   

 
B. Redevelopment Area; Project Site; Existing Conditions 
 
Exhibit "A", attached hereto and incorporated herein, sets forth the boundaries of the 

Redevelopment Area.  The Redevelopment Area is identical to the "Big Red Keno Area," which 
the Mayor and Council previously declared blighted and substandard and in need of 
redevelopment.  Exhibit "A-1", attached hereto and incorporated herein, sets forth the boundaries 
and existing conditions of the area to be developed as part of the Redevelopment Project (the 
"Project Site").  The Project Site is located to the northwest of the intersection of Highway 275 
and Highway 81, in the City.  The Project Site is completely engrossed within the blighted and 
substandard Redevelopment Area and is in need of redevelopment. 

 
C. Conformance with the Comprehensive Plan 

 
 It is essential to the City’s comprehensive plan for development (the “Comprehensive 
Plan”) that dilapidated, inadequate, or deteriorating portions of the City conform to the current 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 14 of 34



2 

and future needs of the City as it continues to grow and expand.  Exhibit "B", attached hereto and 
incorporated herein, shows a portion of the future use map (showing the Redevelopment Area 
and surrounding areas) included within the City's Comprehensive Plan.  The map sets forth a 
“Commercial” designation for future use of the Project Site.  With respect to Commercial 
designations along major thoroughfares, the Comprehensive Plan specifies that large commercial 
and retail developments are appropriate. Accordingly, the anticipated uses associated with the 
Redevelopment Project conform to the desired use of the Project Site set forth in the 
Comprehensive Plan’s future use map.   
  
 Additionally, the Comprehensive Plan further sets forth the following objectives:  
 

- Large lot commercial or “Big-Box” commercial development should be located near the 
major community roadway corridors. 
 

- Facilitate development along the City’s major thoroughfares, such as Highway 81 and 
Highway 275 

 
- Retail and/or entertainment based development types should be encouraged to locate 

along the Highway 275 and Highway 81 Corridors. Commercial and office developments 
should accommodate typical auto-oriented development types. 

 
In accordance with the foregoing, the Redevelopment Project is in conformance with and 

furthers the objectives under the City’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 

 D.  Redevelopment Project Overview 
 

The Redevelopment Project consists of the renovation and rehabilitation of the existing 
Sunset Plaza Mall.  Like many shopping malls across the country, over the course of the past 
decade, Sunset Plaza Mall has lost many of its tenants and fallen into a considerable state of 
blight and dilapidation.  Large retail malls/outlets such as Sunset Plaza Mall are closing and/or 
sitting vacant all across the country.  Finding occupants for such structures following the 
downfall of prior mainstays such as Herberger’s, Sears, etc. and/or retrofitting the same for other 
uses has proven to be difficult and caused vacancy issues for shopping malls everywhere.  The 
Redevelopment Project seeks to cure this issue and facilitate the renovation of the building for its 
highest and best use by attracting tenants that continue to thrive, despite the downturn in brick 
and mortar retail, such as Kohl’s, TJ Maxx and Planet Fitness – which will, in turn, generate 
enough foot traffic to attract and support smaller retail tenants to occupy the other vacant areas of 
Sunset Plaza Mall.  

 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 15 of 34



3 

While it is not anticipated that the Redevelopment Project will be phased with respect to 
the division of TIF Revenues (defined below), it is anticipated that the associated renovations 
will occur in two phases. First, Redeveloper intends to undertake the renovations required by 
Kohl’s, Planet Fitness and TJ Maxx in order to secure their occupancy (referred to herein as 
“Phase One”).  The construction undertaken as part of Phase One will focus on retrofitting the 
prior Herberger’s space into three separate spaces (anticipated to be Kohl’s, Planet Fitness and 
TJ Maxx).  Such renovations will include, without limitation, replacement and/or repair of the 
associated sidewalks and parking lots, landscaping, storm sewer and curb improvements, 
extension of sanitary sewer, water and electric, construction of a new loading dock, exterior 
façade enhancements, and interior tenant improvements.   

 
Once Phase One is complete and the aforementioned tenants have opened for business, 

this will allow Redeveloper to commence the second phase, which will include broader 
renovations and improvements throughout the rest of Sunset Plaza Mall (referred to herein as 
“Phase Two”).  The Phase Two renovations will include, without limitation, replacement and/or 
repair of the associated sidewalks and parking lots, landscaping, exterior façade enhancements, 
renovation of hallways and food court, and interior tenant improvements for the remainder of the 
mall.   

 
The City and Redeveloper acknowledge that some of the renovations related to Phase 

One have already commenced and/or will likely commence prior to the approval of this 
Redevelopment Plan.  This is because Redeveloper must complete renovations for the 
aforementioned anchor tenants as quickly as possible to secure their occupancy commitments – 
which would be jeopardized if Redeveloper waited until the approval of this Redevelopment 
Plan to commence renovations.  In relation to the foregoing, any such costs incurred prior to the 
approval of the Redevelopment Plan will not be eligible for reimbursement from TIF.  However, 
given that the Redevelopment Project is a rehabilitation project and is mostly comprised of 
eligible costs, it is not anticipated that the exclusion of such costs will result in the principal 
amount of the TIF Indebtedness (defined below) exceeding the amount of eligible costs.  
Additionally, the City does not find that the commencement of such renovations negates 
Redeveloper’s need for TIF, as required by the Act and detailed under Paragraph I(1), below.   

 
Redeveloper’s commencement of construction prior to approval of this Redevelopment 

Plan is out of necessity, and is a calculated risk by Redeveloper; in that, despite its need for TIF, 
Redeveloper is shouldering the risk of commencing construction and incurring those costs before 
the same is approved in order to secure the commitments of the aforementioned anchor tenants – 
which is vital to the success of the Redevelopment Project.  Even with TIF, the Redevelopment 
Project is not economically viable unless Redeveloper is able to secure the anchor tenants.  
Moreover, while Redeveloper may be able to undertake the initial renovations without TIF, it 
could not complete the broader rehabilitation of Sunset Plaza Mall.  As such, the Redevelopment 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 16 of 34



4 

Project, as a whole, could not be completed without the assistance of TIF – irrespective of the 
timing of Redeveloper’s commencement on the initial renovations. 

 
No public acquisition of the Project Site is anticipated.  Additionally, no families will be 

displaced as a result of the Redevelopment Project.  Exhibit "C", attached hereto and 
incorporated herein, sets forth the proposed site plan for the Redevelopment Project.     
  

E. Existing Conditions 
 
  1. Existing Land Use 
 
 The Project Site currently consists of the existing Sunset Plaza Mall. 
 
  2. Existing Zoning 
 

The Project Site is currently zoned as C-3 (Service Commercial District).     
  

  3. Existing Public Improvements 
 
 Public access and all necessary public infrastructure for the Project Site currently exists.  
However, much of the infrastructure is in disrepair and requires improvements. 
 

F.  Proposed Redevelopment 
 
  1. Public Improvements 
 

The Redevelopment Project will require infrastructure improvements and other public 
improvements described herein.   
 
   a. Public Access; Traffic Flow, Street Layouts and Street Grades 
 
 Adequate public access to the Project Site currently exists.  However, many of the 
parking lots and sidewalks are in a state of disrepair, and will be repaired or replaced.  Streets 
and other public infrastructure, if any, constructed by Redeveloper will be subject to review and 
approval by the City's engineer or other designee of the City. 
 
   b. Construction of Water and Sewer Improvements. 
 
 Redeveloper will construct or extend water and sewer systems to provide appropriate 
service to new/additional tenant spaces within the mall.    

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 17 of 34



5 

 
c. Other incidental improvements 
 

 Redeveloper anticipates the construction and/or expansion of electric utilities, storm 
sewer/gutter, sanitary sewer, and city water to provide appropriate service to new/additional 
tenant spaces within the mall.  The anticipated public improvements (and costs related to the 
public improvements) for the Redevelopment Project are listed in Exhibit "E", attached hereto 
and incorporated herein.  
 
   d.  Additional public facilities or utilities  
 
 Other than the construction or extension of the utilities and infrastructure detailed above, 
Redeveloper and the City anticipate that the existing public facilities and utilities can adequately 
meet the demands of the Redevelopment Project. 
 

e. Property Acquisition, Demolition and Disposal 
 
 No public acquisition of private property or relocation of families or businesses is 
necessary to accomplish the Redevelopment Project.     
 
   f. Population Density 
 
 The Project Site currently consists of commercial/retail space.  The Redevelopment 
Project will remain as such, and thus, will not increase population density in the area.   
 
   g. Land Coverage 
 
 While the internal configuration of Sunset Plaza Mall will change as part of the 
Redevelopment Project, land coverage will not.  Notwithstanding, the Redevelopment Project is 
subject to and must comply with all applicable land coverage ratios required by the City.  
 
   h. Parking 
 
 Sunset Plaza Mall currently complies with all parking requirements under the City’s 
zoning code and will continue to do so following the completion of the Redevelopment Project.  
The parking lot is currently in poor condition and will be renovated and improved as part of the 
Project. 
 
 
 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 18 of 34



6 

   i. Zoning, Building Code and Ordinance 
 
 The Project Site is currently zoned as C-3 and will not require a zoning change as part of 
the Redevelopment Project.  Notwithstanding, Redeveloper will be responsible for all zoning, 
building code, or ordinance changes that are necessary for the Redevelopment Project.  
 
  2. Private Improvements 
 
 Private improvements for Phase One consist of renovations to the prior Herberger’s space 
consisting of tenant improvements for Kohl’s, Planet Fitness and TJ Maxx, in addition to the 
related facilities and improvements ancillary thereto.  Private improvements for Phase Two 
consist of renovation of the remainder of the mall and parking lot improvements.  Redeveloper or 
other builders taking conveyance from Redeveloper will construct the private improvements.  
Paragraph H of this Redevelopment Plan details the anticipated construction schedule for the 
private improvements.     
 
 G.  Project Costs 
 

The total estimated cost of the Project is approximately $22,512,107.  The estimated costs 
of the Redevelopment Project are attached and incorporated herein as Exhibit "D".  Such figures 
are only estimates based upon 2023 pricing, and are subject to change without further 
amendment of this Redevelopment Plan.  
 

H. Implementation 
 

Redeveloper anticipates that construction of Phase One will commence immediately, and 
will be completed by the end of 2023.  Redeveloper anticipates that construction of Phase Two 
will commence in 2024 or 2025, with completion occurring within twenty-four months.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Redeveloper’s timely completion of the Redevelopment Project 
is subject to extraneous factors, which may necessitate that Redeveloper completes the 
Redevelopment Project later than projected.  As such, the anticipated start and completion dates 
are preliminary and subject to change based upon market conditions, availability of materials, 
workforce availability and other extraneous factors.   
   

I. Financing 
  

The City and the Agency contemplate the use of TIF for the Redevelopment Project.  
Section 18-2147 of the Act authorizes the use of TIF.  It provides that any ad valorem tax levied 
upon real property, or any portion thereof, in a redevelopment project shall be divided, for a 
period not to exceed fifteen years after the effective date as identified in the redevelopment 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 19 of 34



7 

contract, or amendment thereof, or in the resolution(s) of the authority authorizing the issuance 
of bonds pursuant to the Act, as follows: 
 

(a) That portion of the ad valorem tax the levy produces at the rate fixed each year by 
or for each public body upon the redevelopment project valuation shall be paid 
into the funds of each such public body in the same proportion as are all other 
taxes collected by or for the body (“Base Tax Amount”); and 

 
(b) That portion of the ad valorem tax on real property, as provided in the 

redevelopment contract or bond/note resolution, in the redevelopment project in 
excess of the Base Tax Amount, if any, (referred to herein as “TIF Revenues”) 
shall be allocated to and, when collected, paid into a special fund of the authority 
to be used solely to pay the principal of, the interest on, and any premiums due in 
connection with the bonds of, loans, notes, or advances of money to, or 
indebtedness incurred by, whether funded, refunded, assumed, or otherwise, such 
authority for financing or refinancing, in whole or in part, the redevelopment 
project.   

 
With respect to the Redevelopment Project, the actual base tax year and Base Tax 

Amount for the Redevelopment Project will be set forth in the redevelopment contract and/or the 
resolution authorizing the TIF Indebtedness (defined below).  All TIF Revenues generated by the 
Redevelopment Project shall only be divided and allocated over the applicable 15-year increment 
period or until full payment of the TIF Indebtedness, whichever occurs first. 
   

1. Necessity of TIF 
 

Redeveloper has represented and warranted to the City that it would not be economically 
feasible to develop the Redevelopment Project, and it would not do so, without TIF.  In support 
thereof, Redeveloper stated the following in its TIF application: 

 
“In order to obtain the desired tenants in a regional shopping mall, Redeveloper 
needs to make substantial improvements to the site. Although these improvements 
are necessary to land top-tier tenants, market rental rates are not high enough to 
support these costs.  It is a difficult position that requires some intervention such 
as TIF.  If the Redeveloper can obtain assistance to fund a portion of the eligible 
costs, as requested herein, then the rents that can be obtained justify the 
improvements.  Without TIF, the mall can only be renovated to a minimal level 
and no other improvements will occur.  This will make obtaining new tenants very 
difficult. 
 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 20 of 34



8 

More specifically, the immediate Phase One improvements are required to secure 
the leases with the three new tenants in the former Herberger’s space.  Two of 
these tenants have significant contingences and short timelines with penalties in 
the leases, and the only way for the Redeveloper to secure written agreements 
with these tenants was to take a large risk on being able to complete the 
improvements.  If Redeveloper cannot complete all the necessary improvements 
on time, then two of the leases will likely be terminated to the detriment of the 
future of the mall.  Redeveloper cannot justify any further improvements if this 
initial work in not completed and the new tenants commence operations. 
 
If the new tenants commence operations, it will provide new vibrancy to the mall, 
and there are other potential tenants discussing leases in the mall.  There will be 
significant improvements needed to secure these additional tenants, but that will 
only occur if these new anchor tenants are operational.  Assuming this project 
gets to the Phase Two renovations, the entire mall site, including façade and 
parking lot, will be substantially improved.  This is truly a situation where TIF 
will make the difference in the future of the mall.  On one hand, the TIF will fill 
the gap in the immediate Phase One project, which has a roughly $18.5 million 
scope.  But, more than that, it is crucial to the further, larger scope of 
improvements—totaling approximately $22.5 million.  Without TIF, the mall will 
not be improved, and it will be difficult to secure quality tenants.  The 
Redeveloper could lose the leases with TJ Maxx and Kohl’s, and it would not be 
able to finalize leases with any of the current LOIs.  The TIF will provide the gap 
financing that will be the difference between a vibrant mall with high quality 
retail tenants, and a slowly dying mall with little appeal to any new tenants.” 

 
In addition to the foregoing representations, Redeveloper provided an analysis of the 

Redevelopment Project’s return-on-investment (“ROI”), both with and without TIF.  Without 
TIF, the Redevelopment Project’s average ROI over a five-year period is estimated to be 4.76%.  
A ROI of 4.76% for a project such as the one contemplated herein, which presents a high degree 
of risk, is inadequate and could not attract prudent investors and/or lenders.  With TIF, the 
Redevelopment Project’s ROI over the same period of time is estimated to be 9.83% - which 
would be an acceptable ROI to prudent investors and lenders, thus making the Redevelopment 
Project financially feasible. 

 
In accordance with the foregoing findings and representations of Redeveloper, the City 

and Agency have determined that the Redevelopment Project, as proposed herein, is not 
economically viable without the assistance of TIF and Redeveloper would not construct the same 
without TIF.   
 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 21 of 34



9 

  2. Sources and Uses of Financing 
 

Based upon the projections provided in Exhibit "E", attached hereto and incorporated 
herein, the Agency and Redeveloper contemplate issuance of one or more TIF bond(s) or note(s) 
(the "TIF Indebtedness") in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $3,500,000.  The TIF 
Indebtedness shall bear interest at a rate not to exceed 6.50% per annum.  The final principal and 
interest amount comprising the TIF Indebtedness shall be determined by the Agency and set 
forth in the redevelopment contract or resolution authorizing the issuance of the TIF 
Indebtedness.  Redeveloper anticipates that the balance of the public and private costs exceeding 
the TIF Indebtedness will be financed by a mix of equity and traditional bank financing.  The 
above figures are only projections and are subject to change as a result of market conditions and 
other extraneous factors. 

 
The principal amount of the TIF Indebtedness authorized hereunder is premised upon an 

assumed base value of $4,500,000 for the Project Site – which is representative of the 2022 
assessed value.  Redeveloper is currently protesting the 2023 valuation, which is the presumed 
base year, in an effort to reduce the 2023 assessment down to the 2022 amount.  However, if 
Redeveloper is unsuccessful in its protest, the principal amount advanced on the TIF 
Indebtedness shall be reduced commensurately with the decrease of potential TIF Revenues 
resulting from the increased base value, as shall be set forth in further detail in the 
redevelopment contract for the Redevelopment Project, entered into between Redeveloper and 
the Agency. 

 
The principal amount of the TIF Indebtedness authorized hereunder is also premised 

upon the future valuation of Sunset Plaza Mall after the completion of both Phase One and Phase 
Two.  Redeveloper’s appraisal of the property shows a prospective market value upon 
completion and stabilization of $24,240,000.   

 
J. Cost-Benefit Analysis 

 
A cost-benefit analysis for the Redevelopment Project is attached as Exhibit "F" and 

incorporated herein. 
 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 22 of 34



10 

Exhibits: 
 
Exhibit A: Redevelopment Area 
Exhibit A-1: Project Site and Existing Land Use 
Exhibit B: Future Land Use Map 
Exhibit C: Site Plan and Future Land Use 
Exhibit D: Estimated Construction Cost of the Redevelopment Project 
Exhibit E: Sources and Uses of TIF 
Exhibit F: Cost-Benefit Analysis 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 23 of 34



Exhibit "A" 

EXHIBIT "A" 
 

Redevelopment Area and Existing Land Use 
 
Boundaries and Exiting Conditions of Redevelopment Area (outlined in purple): 

   

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 24 of 34



Exhibit "A-1" 

EXHIBIT "A-1" 
 

Project Site and Existing Land Use 
 
 
Legal Description: 
 
Lots 6A and 6B in SUNSET PLAZA SUBDIVISION, FIRST PLATTING to the City of 
Norfolk, Madison County, Nebraska, together with that Part of the North One-Half of 
vacated Market Lane abutting Lot 6B on the south, described in Ordinance No. 5026 filed 
September 8, 2008, in 2008-09, page 500-503 of the Records of Madison County, 
Nebraska. 
 
* In the event Redeveloper subdivides or replats the Project Site, the legal description(s) 
of such subdivided or replatted parcel(s) comprising the Project Site, upon final approval 
of the City with respect thereto, shall replace and supersede the above legal description. 
 
 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 25 of 34



Exhibit "A-1" 

Depiction and Current Condition (outlined in red): 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 26 of 34



Exhibit "B" 

EXHIBIT "B" 
 

Future Land Use Map 
 

  
 
*  Project Site designated as Commercial.

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 27 of 34



Exhibit "C" 

EXHIBIT "C" 
 

Site Plan and Future Land Use 
 

 
*  The above is a preliminary site plan and is subject to change.   

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 28 of 34



Exhibit "D" 

EXHIBIT "D" 
 

Estimate of Construction Costs 
 
 
Land Acquisition       $11,048,466 
Phase One Redevelopment Costs  
 Tenant A Space   $2,440,923  
 Tenant B Space    $1,349,525 
 Tenant C Space    $1,917,448  
 Dock Area     $1,015,745 
 Tenant Move-in Commissions $750,000  
Total Phase One        $7,473,641  
  
Phase Two Redevelopment Costs  
 Parking Lot Improvements  $975,000  
 Food Court Area    $750,000  
 Hallways/General Interior  $850,000  
 Exterior/Façade    $1,150,000  
 New Tenant spaces   $250,000  
Total Phase Two        $3,975,000  
 
City Legal Fees        $15,000  
 
TOTAL          $22,512,107 
 
*  The above figures are estimated values based on current pricing.  These preliminary estimates 
are subject to change, as Redeveloper has no control over the change in cost of materials and 
services between the time of the approval of this Redevelopment Plan and commencement of 
construction. 
 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 29 of 34



Exhibit "E" 

EXHIBIT "E" 
 

Sources and Uses of TIF 
TIF USES: 
 
  Land Acquisition     $11,048,466 
  Site Preparation and Demolition   $95,000 
  Exterior Improvements and Repairs   $1,300,000 
  Roof Replacement     $865,000 
  Water Line Extension     $45,000 
  Sanitary Sewer Extension    $85,000 
  Storm Sewer Improvements    $125,000 
  Parking Lot Improvements    $1,275,000 
  Electrical       $455,000 
  Landscaping      $75,000 
  Sidewalks and Curbs     $80,000 
  City Fees      $15,000 
            TOTAL      $15,463,466 
 
*  The above “Uses” are preliminary estimates based on current pricing and are subject to 
change. 
 
SOURCES: 
 
General Assumptions: 
 
Base Value:    $4,500,000 
Final Value:    $24,000,000 
Tax Levy (2022):   1.960172 
TIF Indebtedness: NTE $3,500,000 
Interest Rate:   NTE 6.50% 
 
*  The above figures are based on assumed values and levy rates.  Actual amounts and rates will 
vary from those assumptions, and it is understood that the actual TIF sources may vary 
materially from the projected amounts. 
 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 30 of 34



Exhibit "E" 

Amortization: 
 

       Debt Service Payments
Total Less Pre- TIF Treasurer's Revenues ----------------- ----------------- -----------------

Taxable Development Taxable Tax Tax 1% Collection Available Interest at Loan Capitalized Interest at
DATE Valuation Base Valuation Levy Revenues Fee For TIF Loan Principal 6.50% Total Balance Interest 6.50%
------ -------- -------- -------- ---- -------- -------- -------- -------- -------- -------- -------- -------- --------

0 $3,500,000
0.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $75,456 $113,750 $189,206 $3,424,544 0 113750

1 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $77,908 $111,298 $189,206 $3,346,636 0 111298
1.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $80,440 $108,766 $189,206 $3,266,196 0 108766

2 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $83,055 $106,151 $189,206 $3,183,141 0 106151
2.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $85,754 $103,452 $189,206 $3,097,387 0 103452

3 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $88,541 $100,665 $189,206 $3,008,846 0 100665
3.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $91,419 $97,787 $189,206 $2,917,427 0 97787

4 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $94,390 $94,816 $189,206 $2,823,037 0 94816
4.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $97,457 $91,749 $189,206 $2,725,580 0 91749

5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $100,625 $88,581 $189,206 $2,624,955 0 88581
5.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $103,895 $85,311 $189,206 $2,521,060 0 85311

6 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $107,272 $81,934 $189,206 $2,413,788 0 81934
6.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $110,758 $78,448 $189,206 $2,303,030 0 78448

7 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $114,358 $74,848 $189,206 $2,188,672 0 74848
7.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $118,074 $71,132 $189,206 $2,070,598 0 71132

8 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $121,912 $67,294 $189,206 $1,948,686 0 67294
8.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $125,874 $63,332 $189,206 $1,822,812 0 63332

9 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $129,965 $59,241 $189,206 $1,692,847 0 59241
9.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $134,188 $55,018 $189,206 $1,558,659 0 55018
10 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $138,550 $50,656 $189,206 $1,420,109 0 50656

10.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $143,052 $46,154 $189,206 $1,277,057 0 46154
11 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $147,702 $41,504 $189,206 $1,129,355 0 41504

11.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $152,502 $36,704 $189,206 $976,853 0 36704
12 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $157,458 $31,748 $189,206 $819,395 0 31748

12.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $162,576 $26,630 $189,206 $656,819 0 26630
13 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $167,859 $21,347 $189,206 $488,960 0 21347

13.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $173,315 $15,891 $189,206 $315,645 0 15891
14 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $178,948 $10,258 $189,206 $136,697 0 10258

14.5 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $184,763 $4,443 $189,206 $0 0 4443
15 19,500,000$   0 19,500,000$  1.960172 191,117$      1,911$          189,206$      $0 $0 $0 $0 0 0

======== ======== ======== --------- --------- --------- --------- --------- --------- =========== ---------
$5,733,510 $57,330 $5,676,180 $3,548,066 $1,938,908 $5,486,974 $0

=========== =========== =========== =========== =========== =========== ===========
( F9 = calculate )

Original Loan Amount $3,500,000
Capitalized Interest $0 ASSUMPTIONS:
Loan Balance Remaining $0 1. Loan Amount: $3,500,000

----------- 2. Interest Rate: 6.50%
*

=========== 3. Increment Base: $19,500,000 **  
 
*  The above figures are estimates based upon the assumptions in this Exhibit “E” and are subject to change.

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 31 of 34



Exhibit "F" 

EXHIBIT "F" 
 

Cost-Benefit Analysis 
(Pursuant to Neb. Rev. Stat. § 18-2113) 

 
The cost-benefit analysis for the Redevelopment Project, as described in the attached 

Redevelopment Plan, which will utilize funds authorized by section 18-2147 of the Act, is 
provided below: 
 
 1. Tax shifts resulting from the approval of the use of funds pursuant to 
Section 18-2147: 
 

The taxes generated by the base value of the Project Site will continue to be allocated 
between the relevant taxing jurisdictions pursuant to the Act.  Only the incremental taxes created 
by the Redevelopment Project will be captured to pay for the project's eligible public 
expenditures.  Since the incremental taxes would not exist without the use of TIF to support the 
Redevelopment Project, the true tax shift of the Redevelopment Project is a positive shift in taxes 
after 15 years.  However, for the purposes of illustrating the incremental taxes used for TIF, the 
estimated 15 year tax shift for the Redevelopment Project is set forth in Exhibit "E" of the 
Redevelopment Plan, and is adopted hereby.  
 

Notes: 
 
1. The Projected Tax Increment is based on assumed values and levy rates; actual 

amounts and rates will vary from those assumptions, and it is understood that the 
actual tax shift may vary materially from the projected amount.  The levy rate is 
assumed to be the 2022 levy rate.  There has been no accounting for incremental 
growth over the 15 year TIF period. 

 
 2. Public infrastructure and community public service needs impacts and local 
tax impacts arising from the approval of the Redevelopment Project: 
 
a. Public infrastructure improvements and impacts: 
 

Adequate public access to the Project Site currently exists.  However, many of the 
parking lots and sidewalks are in a state of disrepair, and will be repaired or replaced.  The 
extension and/or construction of new utilities to serve the new tenant spaces in Sunset Plaza Mall 
will also be required.  The Agency and Redeveloper do not anticipate that the Redevelopment 
Project will have a negative impact on now-existing City infrastructure. 
 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 32 of 34



Exhibit "F" 

b. Local Tax impacts (in addition to impacts of Tax Shifts described above):   
  
 The Redevelopment Project should create material tax and other public revenue for the 
City and other local taxing jurisdictions.  While the use of TIF will defer receipt of a majority of 
new ad valorem real property taxes generated by the Redevelopment Project, the Redevelopment 
Project should generate immediate tax growth for the City via increased sales tax receipts from 
the new tenants.  Additionally, the City will collect sales tax on a portion of the materials used 
for the Redevelopment Project.  It is not anticipated that the Redevelopment Project will have 
any material adverse impact on such City services, but will generate revenue providing support 
for those services. 
 
 3. Impacts on employers and employees of firms locating or expanding within 
the boundaries of the Project Site: 
 
 The Redevelopment Project will result in new and expanded business within the Project 
Site.  It is anticipated that upon completion of Phase One, Kohl’s, TJ Maxx and Planet Fitness 
will occupy the prior Herberger’s site, which currently sits vacant.  Additionally, it is anticipated 
that these anchor tenants and the additional renovations conducted as part of Phase Two will 
attract other tenants to fill the vacant spaces in Sunset Plaza Mall.  Accordingly, it is anticipated 
that the Redevelopment Project will have a positive impact on employers and employees locating 
or expanding within the boundaries of the Project Site.   
 

4. Impacts on other employers and employees within the City and the 
immediate area that is located outside of the boundaries of the Project Site: 
 

The businesses surrounding Sunset Plaza Mall have been negatively impacted by the 
downturn in foot traffic generated by Sunset Plaza Mall.  The Redevelopment Project will result 
in an increase in visitors to Sunset Plaza Mall, which will benefit commerce in the surrounding 
area.  Accordingly, the Redevelopment Project is anticipated to have a positive impact on 
surrounding employers and employees.  
 

5. Impacts on student populations of school districts within the City: 
 
The Redevelopment Project will not impact student populations in the City. 

 
6. Other impacts determined by the Agency to be relevant to the consideration 

of costs and benefits arising from the redevelopment project: 
 
 The Project Site is blighted and contains substandard conditions that are a detriment to 
the City as a whole.  The Redevelopment Project will revitalize Sunset Plaza Mall, which has fell 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 33 of 34



Exhibit "F" 

into a state of dilapidation and disrepair – and in doing so, occupy vacant spaces without 
negatively impacting the surrounding businesses, residents or straining the public infrastructure.  
There are no other material impacts determined by the Agency relevant to the consideration of 
the costs or benefits arising from the Redevelopment Project.  As such, the costs of the 
Redevelopment Project are outweighed by its benefits. 
 
2996761.3 
 

12/4/2023 Enclosure 6
Page 34 of 34


	Cover Page
	Public Notice
	Agenda
	Staff Memo
	Enclosure 5
	Enclosure 6



